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The CHAIRMAN: Good morning everybody. I do not think I need to introduce everybody again. 
We have all met a few times already. If you are comfortable with that I will read you the official bit, 
get you to answer the questions, and then we will get into it.  

This committee hearing is a proceeding of Parliament and warrants the same respect that 
proceedings in the house itself demand. Even though you are not required to give evidence on oath, 
any deliberate misleading of the committee may be regarded as contempt of parliament. Have you 
completed a “Details of Witness” form?  

The Witnesses: Yes.  

The CHAIRMAN: Did you understand the notes at the bottom of the form? 

The Witnesses: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: Did you receive and read an information for witnesses briefing sheet regarding 
giving evidence before parliamentary committees?   

The Witnesses: Yes.  

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have any questions relating to your appearance before the committee 
this morning? 

The Witnesses: No. 

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you for coming in this morning. This is a follow-up hearing from our 
previous one. Is there anything you want to lead off on before we start asking questions? 

Mr Parry: Yes, if we may. If it is possible, Tania Loosley-Smith will talk you through the formal 
housing strategy. Tania has a document she will hand out to members.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: This is just a summary to follow through.  

Thank you for the opportunity to talk to you again. It is nice to finally talk about the strategy. The 
strategy was launched by the minister on 11 May. I thought we could cover this really quickly—I 
assume you have had a chance to look at it—and run through why we have actually got the strategy, 
who it targets and some of the key directions and themes, particularly the ones relevant to your 
terms of reference, and some of the key initiatives and outcomes.  

In terms of why we need a strategy—if you are following me I am on page 3 now with some of the 
data—I am sure you have found through your investigations that we are facing a large affordability 
problem in WA, which has been growing over the last 30 years. It has got really sharp in the last 10 
years and it is now affecting your average Western Australian, so people on median incomes as well 
as people on the very low incomes. There are a couple of statistics I thought you might be interested 
in that we have drawn primarily from REIWA data. Who is this problem affecting? If you are on an 
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average or a median income in Western Australia, about 8.4 per cent of the houses or units that are 
for sale in the market would be affordable to you if you accepted the kind of benchmark that is used 
of 30 per cent of your income should go into housing—any more than that and you are starting to 
slip into housing stress. So that is a very low number and something that has given rise to some of 
the strategies in the State’s Affordable Housing Strategy. If you are on more of a Centrelink-kind of 
income—so maybe around $22 000 a year—whereas 10 years ago you could probably find 
something to rent out in the private sector, around the December quarter last year only about 
one per cent of listings were affordable for those people. Again, that speaks to the pressure that that 
is being put on to the bottom end of the market, and of course the public housing wait list.  

One of the things I want to say about the strategy is that it is not just a welfare issue now. It is 
actually something that is affecting everybody, such as seniors and people with kids—I am sure 
some of you might be in this category—who they would like to see leave home at some stage. The 
strategy really tries to tackle some of the causes of the problem and not just the consequences at the 
public housing end. There are a couple of graphs in the strategy that illustrate that point. The first 
one again comes from REIWA data, which shows a sharp uptake in median house prices in Perth in 
this case. Those prices really kicked around 2005 and, coincidentally, this occurred when the 
demand for public housing kicked as well.  

Over the page, and again of interest to you, it starts to show where those benchmarks are for your 
low and median income households, and then just over median income households if they want to 
purchase a place. So they are really struggling to get anywhere near the median house price, which 
is $480 000, and they are also struggling to get anywhere near what the market calls the lower 
quartile house prices. Unless you have got a household income of about $90 000 a year, home 
ownership is just too big a stretch at the moment. 

The CHAIRMAN: So to get to the median house price, what sort of an income do you anticipate 
people need? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Around $120 000.  

The CHAIRMAN: You may not know this, but I wonder how many of our people are actually on 
the $120 000 income level. What is the percentage of our population? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: In terms of the people who are the focus of the strategy, we have really said it 
is the people on a low-to-moderate income, so that is zeroed in around $90 000. They are the people 
who are saying they cannot find their way without some level of assistance either into home 
ownership or private rental. 

Mr Whyte: It is not just a matter of bringing the cheapest property that you can to the market; the 
cheapest property that you can bring to the market is not cheap enough. It is also about the type of 
property you can bring to market. If you look at what is available on the market, there are plenty of 
four-bedroom, two-bathroom, or three-bedroom, one-bathroom housing. There simply is not the 
diversity of the one or two-bedroom product that has been brought to market. In Perth in 
particular—we are different to the other states—our mix of property is not right at the moment 
because being market driven, virtually any builder or real estate agent will say you are wasting your 
time building anything other than a three-by-one.  

[10.10 am] 

We can build you a three-by-one for the same price as we can build a two-bedroom unit. From the 
investment perspective, do not build a one-bedroom unit; build a two-bedroom unit. So the market 
has shifted up for very rational reasons, and people are getting a much better return on their 
investment. The two points are that it does not matter how cheap you bring that product to 
market-even if you bring it in at cost-it is still not cheap enough for people to afford to buy. It is a 
real dilemma.  
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The CHAIRMAN: The other issue is that to get it to that cheaper price, we are pushing it further 
and further out where there are little or no services.  

Mr Whyte: Correct, and those lots, again, are costing more to bring to market because in a lot of 
cases that land is inferior land from a development perspective. It costs a lot to fill that land and it 
costs a lot to service that land, and over and above that the local government’s requirements are—
we got onto this before—a cost of up to $100 000 just in services to get underground power, smart 
technology, kerbing, and just the standard features you would expect from a new subdivision. There 
is very little change out of $100 000 just in servicing a lot.  

The CHAIRMAN: Have the developers taken a much larger proportion of profit and have the 
builders increased their profit margins as well? Some of them tell us that it is really poor maths and 
they are not making any money anymore. Do you have any information on that? 

Mr Whyte: There are two things. One factor is external to us in terms of the reports we have access 
to. However, firsthand, and as probably the state’s largest land developer, one in every six blocks of 
land is developed through us and one of our joint ventures. We have noticed that our profit margins 
have remained fairly constant. It is the cost of bringing that lot to market that has changed. 
Fundamentally, I do not believe that the developers are getting a higher rate of return. If you are 
looking at it now, it is probably an internal rate of return of around 22 per cent, which, based on 
profit and risk, is about standard within our market. I do not think it has changed a lot. It was 
certainly higher when interest rates were higher because the risk and the opportunity cost of that 
money was higher, but for where our interest rates are right now, that is fairly standard. As far as 
builders are concerned, their margins have probably stayed around the same as well. We have a lot 
of builders now who have become high-volume builders. So in their case they have probably cut 
their margins a bit. We will get onto it later, but we are just embarking on an expression of interest 
process to combine both house and land together in the market, which is a first. We will be able to 
bring together the land and the housing as opposed to dealing with land as one issue and housing as 
the other. We want to put the two together and see if we can get a cheaper product to market. With 
our own land and privately-sourced land we are asking them to bring to us a finished house and land 
product. That could spell out whether there is an opportunity for us to reduce that margin again.  

In answering your question, I do not think in terms of any traditional levels that there is any 
additional profit taking. This has been backed up by a report—I cannot remember the reference but 
I can provide it to you later—that has shown that what is increasing are the servicing costs of that 
land. Another factor also comes into the risk side of things, which is the number of approvals that 
are required and the risk of obtaining the highest yield you can on any englobo parcel of land, given 
a number of requirements and not just isolated environmental requirements. There are a lot of other 
issues that need to be brought into account that both delay the time it takes you to bring that lot to 
market, and determine the number of lots that you can bring on any englobo parcel of land, given 
issues such as wetlands or some sort of — 

The CHAIRMAN: We have had a developer talk to us and outline many of those and the number 
of hurdles he has to go over, which was quite good. 

Mr Whyte: Anecdotally, all I can refer to is one particular parcel of land that we have had since 
1995. It was an old school site in Kiara, or a proposed school site. We went right through the 
rezoning process and we were looking to yield around about 120 to 130 dwellings out of that site. 
We were also going to attract a local school to come and build and provide the amenity and service 
that is needed in that area, and retain 30 per cent of the site for wetlands and bushland. The 
recommendation that got through to the WAPC the first time would have allowed us to build just 
under 20 lots. Initially, Bush Forever looked at the site and said it had no vegetation of any 
significance. We fenced the site and, as a result, bush grew on the site. That bush was then deemed 
to be of significance and, therefore, it became an issue for us to be able to develop the site. These 
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are the issues. If you are holding a site from 1995 onwards and you are wondering why it costs so 
much to bring it to market—that is a long time when it was development-ready in 1995.  

The CHAIRMAN: Do you want to continue, Tania? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Over the page—rental affordability trends for low income households—this is 
a busy graph but what I want to draw your attention to is the red line and the blue line, and the 
widening gap. That tells us that until about 2004, if you were on a low income—$36 000 and 
below—you probably had a gap of $20 or $30 a week to exist in the private market in terms of what 
you could afford and what the average price was. That gap has now blown out to well over $100 a 
week; hence the pressure on the social housing system where there is just not the private rentals on 
the market for people on the lowest incomes in Western Australia.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: On that graph, because the blue line is above the green dotted line, does that 
mean there is not an issue with vacancies, or is there still an issue? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: The more the vacancy rate falls, the larger the gap because the more rents go 
up. We are in a declining rental vacancy environment again, so we would expect that kind of gap to 
open up again. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: REIWA says there is no problem with vacancies at the moment. Why is it 
interpreting it in that way?  

Ms Loosley-Smith: REIWA looks at what the balance of supply and demand is in an aggregate 
sense. We look at what people on a median income and a low income — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: So there are many houses for rent at the $1 000 a week mark? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes. There are about five suburbs in Perth in which you can afford to buy right 
now if you are on that kind of median income; whereas before, if you happened to be on a 
Centrelink-kind of income, you could only afford to buy about one per cent of rentals available at 
the moment. That is the difference between where we focus and where they focus.  

The CHAIRMAN: With the Affordable Housing Strategy, the idea is to take private rentals and 
bring them through the Department of Housing and then rent them out. If we are still looking at a 
price of about $370—I think that is the median at the moment—how is the Department of Housing 
going to make that work? The investor out there still wants his $370, but you have people who can 
only pay $200, so there is a difference of $170. How is that going to work for the department and 
for getting people in with those lower incomes? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Primarily, there are two ways. You are referring to the trial of a rent brokerage 
scheme where we will take up to 500 properties from the private sector and offer them to our over-
income tenants. These are people who are already at risk of being evicted from public housing 
because they are consistently over income. They are people who are on a pathway around 
employment et cetera. One way that we will manage this is through the targeting of this area. The 
second way is that we will offer a subsidy for the first 12 months to help make up the gap. The third 
way is that those people will attract the commonwealth rent assistance payment, which they do not 
when they are in public housing. The modelling we have done shows that for the people concerned, 
the actual cost to them is not that much higher when we add those subsidies in and target the people 
who are working and are on their way out of public housing anyway.  

[10.20 am] 

The CHAIRMAN: If I am over income and I am in a social or government house paying 
25 percent of my weekly income—let us say that is 200 bucks—in rent, and I then have to move out 
to pay 370 bucks, what commonwealth rent assistance do I get? 

Mr Parry: If I can answer — 

The CHAIRMAN: Is that too specific? 
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Ms Loosley-Smith: I do not have the actual numbers but I could get them. 

Mr Parry: Without the numbers, they are actually paying less than 25 per cent of their income 
because our market rents in the department properties are quite significantly lower than what would 
be a true market rent. The reality is that they might be paying only 20 per cent or under 20 per cent 
of their income, and by moving out and becoming eligible for commonwealth rent assistance, which 
can be anything up to about $120 a fortnight, or obviously a portion of that, they get a subsidy, but 
the added outcome or added benefit is the freeing-up of public housing. This scheme is not just 
about providing lower cost rentals; it is actually providing an outlet for our tenants to move into so 
that we can free up public housing to those in greatest need. 

The CHAIRMAN: I am trying to understand. If I am earning $1 000 a week and am taking home 
$800 a week and the maximum rent that I have to pay for a social house is 200 bucks of that $800, 
which, I think, puts me above the income level—well above—why would I continue to work for 
800 bucks a week when I can pull away from that? If I stay on my 800 bucks a week, you are going 
to force me out. That then means I am going to have to pay market rent which is around $370. So 
that is going to cost me $170 a week more. That means I am a lot poorer. Okay; I can pick up 
commonwealth rent assistance, and maybe I would pick up 30 to 50 bucks, but I am still out of 
pocket. This is not about being a bludger; this is about using your head and working out the 
economics. The economics of it say that I am better off just pulling back, dropping back to my 
$300 or $400 Centrelink payment or whatever it is—I do not know—and paying 25 percent of my 
income in rent. Why would I move? I do not want this information right now, but can you send us 
something to show us why a person in that situation would move? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Absolutely, and if we could, we will go to the next slide and I will explain 
that—the one about the housing continuum.  

The CHAIRMAN: Some of that is about being aspirational and some people will say, “Yes, I want 
to be out.” That is fine. I understand that. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: It is all right; we will come back to the rental brokerage scheme because I have 
a few questions on it. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: I am happy to. 

What we are trying to do, looking at the housing continuum, is build—fill in the gaps because the 
gaps, as you are quite rightly pointing out, are too big. People are making very rational decisions to 
stay in public housing because the jump into what is next for them is too large. With this strategy, 
we are trying very much to make those jumps less huge and to build some bridges. For example, if 
you are over the income limit in public housing, you are the people we want to start working with 
by saying, “Okay, let’s look at some different pathways for you. Can we look at you maybe buying 
the public house that you are in?” Therefore, that frees up some money for us to purchase a property 
somewhere else. “Can we help you with a shared equity property, where you can go and buy 
something new? Can we help you into one of the NRAS—national rental affordability scheme—
properties? Can we help you into a community housing property?” A lot of those things give people 
security of tenure, which is what a lot of our people care about, rather than who is the tenancy 
manager. We are trying to fill in those gaps so that when people are making rational decisions, there 
are some other more attractive pathways for them than staying in public housing. One of the things 
that we will look at that I am sure you have heard about from other states is whether there is any 
benefit at looking at things like fixed-term tenancies. Instead of saying to people, “There you go; 
there is your public house for life”, we set up the expectation that when they sign on, particularly 
for younger people, this tenancy is for 12 months and will be reviewed. The expectation is that you 
will get on your feet and that this is a path for you right now, but that our expectation is that after 12 
months you will move onto one of these other options. The difficulty in the regions, in particular, is 
that they just do not have those other options to offer people.  
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Mr Parry: But we have a compliance team that targets those people who are over income and 
works with them to look at where they can link into the continuum, to try to encourage them, in the 
first instance, to move wherever it might be—be it Keystart, shared equity or into a private rental 
using commonwealth rent assistance. We will provide you with information about where, with rent 
assistance — 

The CHAIRMAN: I am not being critical.  

Mr Parry: No. 

The CHAIRMAN: I am just trying to understand. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: We have faced it and we have lived it. Right now, with the transfer of some of 
the properties to the community housing sector, which I am sure you have heard about as you talk 
to people, one of the things that we target is not the eviction of people who are over income, but 
rather say, “Good on you; now you can move into a brand-new property managed by a community 
housing organisation.” 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Who will charge than 30 per cent of their income. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes; but these are people who are on the up and up and who are not on 
statutory Centrelink payments as a rule. For some of our people, absolutely, you go back to them 
and talk to them a month later and their hours are reduced at work; their income has come down. 
We have a generation of culture to break around people thinking that a public house is for life and 
there is no expectation — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I actually think it is broader than that because there is nothing else available. I 
understand that there are people with that attitude, but a lot of other people are saying there is 
absolutely no other option for them. So I think it is a bit unfair to class all those people who do that 
in that category. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Point taken; and that is why we are working so hard to try to build up some of 
these other options for people. We want to get to the point where we can, instead of going out and 
saying to people, “Naughty you; you are over income, so out you go”, we want to say, “Good on 
you! You have actually improved your circumstances; now let us look at the next best housing 
option for you.”  

Mr Whyte: If I could, a model of eligible–ineligible does not work.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Yes. 

Mr Whyte: Because if you are ineligible you are not eligible for anything else. Our role in the 
strategy is very much “ineligible, but eligible for” and that is where we have got to get to. In getting 
back to the issue about how you bridge the gap, Tania mentioned the option of an NRAS rental–
subsidised home for which the rent is already set at 80 per cent of market rent, so we have that gap 
down again. You still get commonwealth rental assistance and all those other bits, and we have just 
about bridged the gap. For those people who we may have had reduce their income three or four 
times every time we come round to knock on the door, it might just be that from their side of things 
they only have to do an extra hour or two a week to be eligible again. But we have to be able to fill 
in the gap. Therefore, our role in the strategy is “ineligible, but eligible for”. If we cannot provide 
the “but eligible for”, the rational response has to be, “We will stay eligible, thank you. We don’t 
want to be ineligible, because that option is just not right for me and my family.” 

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have some more questions on that? 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I will go back because I have some questions about the rental brokerage 
scheme. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Moving right along to the strategies, there are a couple of key things that I want 
to draw out for you, including, as we have touched on, more affordable entry transition points. In 
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the market, those affordable entry level homes, the homes that were in the inner city that had been 
since renovated and gentrified, have now gone, and we need to get some more entry points from 
whole bunch of people in terms of rental and home ownership, and we need those transition points 
because they make the jumps not so large for people. 

Yes, you are quite right—NRAS and our rent brokerage scheme are two major planks for that, as is 
our greatly expanded shared equity scheme that I will get to in a moment. Keystart has a profound 
role to play in terms of supporting home ownership for people who cannot raise the banks’ 
requirements around deposits in particular. 

Another major area of focus is growing the community housing sector; making much better use of 
the government’s land and housing assets, which are somewhat lazy at the moment; and pursuing 
partnerships between government and the private sector and, indeed, the community sector.  

[10.30 am] 

If I can just turn over, we have sort of covered this, but I thought this would be of interest to you—
those additional points along that housing continuum. We have done some fairly crude modelling to 
show what the various things cost and basically where they are targeted, so you can see that, very 
obviously, a public housing capital response for people is very expensive to government, whereas 
things like a brokerage scheme, or starting to look at things like a land rent or a land lease type of 
arrangement are cheaper options again. NRAS is quite a cost-effective option for the state in getting 
those subsidised rentals — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Less so for the commonwealth, clearly. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: That is because the commonwealth pays the majority of the subsidy. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Exactly, and the same with the brokerage, so I make the point that this is the 
state and it costs the state government. That is what it says. I emphasise that. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes. Moving up to the shared equity options, which we will talk about 
afterwards, they are very, very cost effective and in fact often provide a return back to the Housing 
Authority to reinvest in social housing. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Before we turn over, are you able to advise us the cost to the commonwealth of 
the shift? Clearly, if you have done these calculations, you should be able to tell us that, 
presumably. If it has been shifted to the commonwealth, what is the annual quantum of that shift is 
going to be if these are going to be implemented? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Sorry, I just want to clarify: if we move to the rent brokerage scheme, the 
additional impost on the commonwealth rent assistance, for example—is that what you mean? 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Yes, greater reliance on NRAS and so on—community housing, again. If you 
have the figures about how much less it is costing the state, you should be able to calculate what 
additional costs that is imposing on the commonwealth. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Thank you. 

Mr Whyte: NRAS, for instance, is quite clear: the commonwealth’s contribution to that is $6 000 
per annum and the state’s contribution is $2 000 per annum for 10 years. People are still eligible for 
commonwealth rental assistance. The commonwealth rental assistance is around that for most of our 
people who move up into these areas—somewhere between $30 and $80 or $90 a week, maximum, 
and so that is the cost-shifting. We can model that across each of these for you. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: All right, thank you very much. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: The reasons for the community housing sector growth are, of course, diverse 
via the delivery system, because at the moment it is predominantly all public housing; it is 
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increasing choices for people. We have talked about this before, you may recall; we are looking for 
those growth providers, in particular, which are really commercially minded developers, if you like, 
with a strong social agenda. They are the partners we want, who can actually access finance from 
banks off the assets that they currently hold in their portfolio—you know, donations, bequests, 
those sorts of things—which we cannot do. And then, of course, there are tax and other benefits 
with their not-for-profit status. Already with some of our larger growth providers, off the back of 
some of the houses that were transferred to them from the commonwealth stimulus program and 
before that through the Department of Housing, over the next few years we will see at least 400 
extra houses than we would have seen if we had just left that sitting in public housing hands. That is 
the kind of leverage they are getting by being able to go to the banks and borrow, for example. So 
over the 10 years of the strategy, we think we will get at least 1 000 extra houses out of that sector 
through some quite modest investment. One of the things the minister in particular talked about 
when he launched the strategy was the move to different sorts of partnerships between the 
government, in particular through the department, and the private sector, and he made the point 
about our old way, I guess, of procuring housing, which would have been to have an amount of 
funding, whether that be commonwealth, state or own-source, and then going out on a program 
basis to ask for that housing to be built, and then we own or manage it. So, for example, our public 
housing section would have gone out and procured some housing for public housing, or community 
housing or maybe some housing for people with disabilities; you get the picture—kind of different 
programs, small scale. If you turn the page, the way that we are really starting to work now, which 
we kicked off through the commonwealth stimulus program in particular, is to look at bulking up 
our programs and looking at really open, broad expressions of interest or request for proposals 
where we are basically acting as a catalyst in the market to get a broad range of outcomes delivered 
for a single process. We are inviting people to bring forward some innovation and particularly some 
affordable housing product, where we can address both our social housing program needs, the needs 
for affordable rentals and the needs for affordable homeownership through Keystart, for example. I 
think some of you went down to visit the project at Success, near Cockburn. As an example of the 
new way that we are working, rather than just purchasing a set number of units out of that 
development, when we have the opportunity, we have invested in the development over several 
stages over 10 years. What it means in rough maths, to somebody like me, is for an initial $23 
million investment we actually get a whole bunch of units for social housing and affordable 
housing, and then get $19 million to plough back into the next stages of development, to keep that 
going in perpetuity, so it is a smarter way of working over a longer period, where we are either 
using our cash in that case, or our land in the cases of Pier Street and some of the other innovative 
developments, to take an equity role in deals rather than just procuring a certain number of public 
houses, for example. 

Mr Whyte: Just on that, it does make a change from the organisation being a significant land 
developer in the state to being involved in property development. So no longer is it just about 
bringing land to market—particularly our land—and selling that into the market at the bottom 
quartile, but also participating in the development of property that meets the needs of people in the 
lower quartile. For instance, where we are able to bring the land to market and stop at that point, we 
are now able to take it through to the next stage and say, “For this group site, we want a mix of one 
and two-bedroom product”. We will work with the shire and get some additional yield increases, 
because we want more than just what the zoning allows for. We want a better outcome. Instead of 
having a three-bedroom house, four-bedroom house, one-bedroom unit, which does not work, does 
not give you any yield, we will build over the whole site and so you will not actually notice where 
the one-bedroom unit is or where the two-bedroom unit is in that development, and it will be part of 
that whole property base. So people who live in a one-bedroom unit will not be sort of secluded, or 
it will not stand out. So you will see a thing like a “Fonzie” flat, where it is just embedded within 
the development itself. So it is a shift, from our perspective, in connecting both our land with our 
property needs. 
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Ms Loosley-Smith: And, if I might add, with the end user, so that we actually get a good 
development happening. When you need land, you need cash and you need someone at the end. 
One of the really exciting things about the department, where it is headed and the role that 
government is seeing for it through the state affordable housing strategy is to be able to bring all 
those ingredients together and actually use our role in the market to get those things to happen.  

Can you just talk, really quickly, about the EOI? Because the EOI we have out at the moment is 
probably the most exciting thing that the department has done in about 10 years, and it joins all 
these things up and illustrates what the strategy is, in a very real way. 

Mr Whyte: The EOI, there are two parts to it. Again, as Tania said, instead of just going out and 
tendering out for social housing, for GROH housing, for disabled housing et cetera, we said to the 
market: “First part on your land—what product can you deliver that would satisfy our needs?” In 
that case, or in that instance, we are accessing their land and their resources. They will need to 
deliver that product. What we are expecting is that we will get involvement in development similar 
to the Stella Orion project; we will take an interest in it. We might use the profit from the sale to 
market of, say, the three-bedroom and four-bedroom product, and we will then be able to cross-
subsidise our one and two-bedroom product in that development and we will be able to offer things 
like shared equity in there as well. So, first was to go to the market and ask for them to be able to 
provide an end-to-end. The second stage, which is about to go out next week, I hope, will be 
construction opportunities or development opportunities on our land, so we will offer up our land as 
being part of the solution. Builders and developers will come to us and say, “Here, we’ve got a 
concept. We want to build, say, a 30 or 40-unit development, or we want to access 15 of your 
blocks in a row,” and do what I mentioned before about the one and two-bedroom product. We will 
procure through that process so that people get the capacity to be able to deal with that end-to-end.  

[10.40 am] 

We will also include Keystart in that process so they will be very heavily involved in providing 
loans for people on the shared equity—they will be heavily involved in providing loans for people 
who want to buy outright their own property in these developments. It will get the development up; 
it will get the development to happen in a timely manner and around the sort of objectives we want, 
rather than simply having cookie-cutted blocks on the market and people have to go off individually 
and negotiate a three-bedroom or a two-bedroom house. It is very difficult for people in these 
circumstances to get a good deal.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: We will use our purchasing power to buy en masse. The building industry and 
the residential construction industry—I am sure you have heard them—are saying that it is well 
down at the moment. We are basically saying to them we will take up to 3 000 houses off you over 
the next couple of years if you can build to this particular price point, and, yes, we want it close to 
services and employment et cetera. We are looking again for entry-level housing; we are looking to 
get a discount because we are purchasing on volume; and we are looking to create some equity in 
each of the properties that we can then use as the shared equity component for someone. I think the 
cleverness in this that I love is that, say we purchase properties for $260 000, and that is what we 
get en masse—the valuation is closer to $300 000—the person who comes along may need a loan 
for the $260 000 only; we put in the rest, and we share equity in a house that is worth $300 000. 
They are backed in through Keystart as long as they meet all the Keystart criteria. By being 
strategic about what time we go to the market, what kind of locations we buy in, and what kind of 
dwellings we look at, we are joining up the people who are screaming out for some entry-level 
product—who cannot get a loan through a bank—the builders are screaming out for some work in a 
volume to achieve the government’s objectives for affordable entry-level housing — 

Mr Parry: We are also going to a set number of tenants in public housing, which will be around 
$60 000 to $70 000 mark, who can afford to enter the market at that price point.  
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Ms Loosley-Smith: When we talk about what the strategy is about, you know about the continuum, 
the entry points, other options for people using our role, and our land and assets being more cleverly 
in the market, I think this is a really good illustration. The strategy has provided the framework that 
has allowed the department to go out quickly after the strategy and — 

Mr Parry: We are also trying to change the market. We have tried changing the market. I think it is 
proving, through the small-frontage lots that we have built, which I think you have seen—the six-
metre lots—that the market is starting to follow.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: We have de-risked those for them, so it is early days. I am not in that part of 
the business but anecdotally what I hear is the developers saying, “No, no; we don’t want to build 
that; no-one will buy it.” We have managed to say, “Okay; we’ll guarantee to purchase it if you 
can’t get buyers”, and they are the first ones that are selling.  

You wanted to talk some more about the private rent brokerage scheme; I am kind of there so fire 
away.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: You tell us what you want to tell us, and I will get you to fill in the gaps.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: It has really been covered. It is a strategy that is about easing pressure on the 
social housing system to give people another transition point. We will trial 120 properties initially 
to ensure it is the sort of thing that can work and test the sorts of things that you are talking about 
concerning people’s motivation and how we can support them  

Mr A.P. JACOB: Are you looking at mum and dad owners or people who have a fairly large 
portfolio, or both?  

Ms Loosley-Smith: Initially, we are going to some of the larger real estate companies. They have 
been knocking on our door, surprisingly, and saying, “We’ve got properties that we’re happy to 
blend in”, because we are actually guaranteeing them a tenant, guaranteeing them rent and 
guaranteeing to make good if there is any damage.  

The CHAIRMAN: That is a huge undertaking to make good.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: That is why we are only doing 120 first-up. It is the sort of thing that has 
worked elsewhere and we want to give it a trial, but the matching of the person to the property will 
be really important. The other thing I like about this is if we do have someone, particularly a family, 
who might be over income and we are talking to them about moving out of public housing, at least 
with this we can pick specifically for them. We do not have to say, “You live in Wanneroo; we are 
offering you a house in Doubleview”, and it does not suit them in terms of their school or their 
networks. At least in this way, we can actually procure directly a house that is in the vicinity they 
want to be in. That might speak to their motivation a little bit.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: There is a trial of 120. If that is successful, what is the time frame to move up 
to 500?  

Ms Loosley-Smith: The time frame we are locked into is the life of the strategy, which is 10 years. 
If it works, and it works well, it would be subject to what we can resource, basically.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: My understanding from evidence we received from REIWA is that it will 
include property managers in that package. I understand that the initial equation is one property 
manager per 70 properties; is that correct?  

Mr Whyte: My understanding is that that is pretty close.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: What is the ratio for property managers to properties in Homeswest? 

Mr Parry: About one to 300; however, all they do is look after the tenancy and nothing but. A 
private property manager, who averages about 100 to 150, does everything from going to court to 
the financials, the sign-up package, the leases, working with the owners — 
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Ms M.M. QUIRK: But you are talking about one in 70, not one in 150.  

Mr Parry: Sorry, I am not aware of that.  

Mr Whyte: The latest figures I got were around one in 70.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: My colleague has already touched on “making good”. What is the nature of the 
arrangement with REIWA in terms of making good?  

Ms Loosley-Smith: We are getting the contract documents drawn up now. They will be in the latest 
agreements, and there will be some sort of side agreement. I have not seen them yet, but it will be in 
a legal agreement that will say that if there is any unforeseen, not routine, kind of damage — 

Mr Parry: It will not be dissimilar to the Defence housing model.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: There has obviously been some budgeting done around that; what sort of cost is 
that figured out at?  

Ms Loosley-Smith: I would have to take that on notice.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: If you would not mind; thank you very much.  

Mr Whyte: Our estimate would be that it would be less than the routine maintenance we have on 
our own houses.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: And you do not have to go through Transfield?  

Mr Whyte: No, we do not.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Body language says it all really!  

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions on the brokerage scheme?  

Ms Loosley-Smith: One of the last things I want to talk about is the strategy and the need for better 
coordination for high-need groups. I thought I would illustrate a couple of examples that you might 
be familiar with—or not. We are working very closely with the Department for Child Protection on 
the rollout of the national partnership agreement on homelessness. That is about the joining up of 
the supports and the housing for people who are highly vulnerable. So far, that is working well. WA 
is doing as well as any other state in that space. You may have seen it come out in the budget papers 
that through the last budget process, we worked with a couple of other key agencies—disability 
services, mental health, and drug and alcohol—to put up a consolidated budget. We are aligning the 
support dollars and housing for people, and individualising a response for those people. There is 
some joint planning going on with those agencies at the moment to ensure that it all comes together 
for people. Some of the stuff we are really proud of is the lead agency role we have played, 
particularly in Warmun, which has been really challenging of late, as well as in places like 
Roebourne and Halls Creek and rolling out the national partnership agreement initiative. While we 
are not structurally joined with other agencies, we certainly still see that we have a key part in being 
that lead agency and bringing together the supports in housing for people where we can. Can we get 
better at it? Absolutely. They are some ways that illustrate the way we are trying to work now  

The CHAIRMAN: I do not know whether you saw this morning’s paper, but it contains an article 
headed “Mentally ill ‘turfed out’ of homes”. If a person has a mental illness, they have episodes at 
periods. The article highlighted a particular man in this instance. How can you justify that you have 
evicted him rather than put supports around him and worked on those other things? We do not know 
the specifics but this is what is in the paper. The concern is that people with mental illness cannot be 
responsible for what they are doing. Is that the best solution—to turf them out in the streets? It is 
not the best solution. 

[10.50 am] 

Mr Parry: That is a given; it is not the best solution and we acknowledge that. To start at where we 
are at the moment, we have met with and I have met with the senior people in Department of 
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Mental Health to work on a protocol whereby we will report any known people with a diagnosed 
mental health illness that we are taking action against. We are just determining at what stage with 
our antisocial behaviour—disruptive behaviour, I should say—strategy, whether it is strike 1 or 2. 
So there will be a mandatory reporting process and then they can triage those reports and they can 
get involved.  

We do have support packages available through the support of the housing assistance program 
where we do provide wrap-around supports to people. We link in to all other government agencies. 
There is StrongFamilies. I am sure you all know about StrongFamilies, which I think is a really 
successful model where senior members and decision-makers of most of the major players within 
the state government meet to talk about individual cases. There are times, sadly, when we have to 
evict. We have to look at the balance of the community and the issues within the community. There 
are times and there are instances when people will actually cause harm to neighbours or there will 
be ongoing disruptive behaviour that we have worked for a significant period of time to resolve and 
brought in all the agencies that we know. Of course, there are undiagnosed mental health issues, 
which are a problem for us, and we are trying to work on a protocol with mental health again to try 
to find a way to work on that with them on that, but predominantly we have to look at the balance of 
the community and our tenants’ welfare. Ultimately, if the end result is an eviction, it is something 
that we do link in with the other agencies so they know what is coming out.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: A situation that I have certainly faced commonly in the electorate office is 
someone who can have what is called eccentric or quirky behaviour—excuse the pun—but the other 
tenants in the units just object to this person and really in the scheme of things it is not major 
disruption. Now, that is a particularly hard issue I think to —  

Mr Parry: It is incredibly difficult for our people on the ground to almost play detective, as I like to 
say. That is their role, to try to find the fact from fiction. We do have vexatious complaints whether 
in groups of units or streets or the broader community. When we actually reach an eviction and we 
go to a court in front of a magistrate and we have to plead our case—under the Residential 
Tenancies Act we have to obtain an eviction through the Local Court—we have to be able to 
demonstrate that something took place and vexatious complaints will predominantly fall over 
somewhere along that pathway. We have to look at whether somebody is constantly complaining. 
We look at the level of the seriousness of the complaints and in terms of the investigation we will 
make calls. There are times that we do actually transfer people, because we accept that it is not just 
a good fit and through other government agencies we work with them to find a better fit for them. It 
might be the dwelling type, it might be the location, it might be the lack of supports and we try to 
bring people in. Given, obviously, the size of our portfolio, our number of evictions is incredibly 
low. They have been reducing over the years, but under the disruptive behaviour management 
strategy obviously those numbers will increase. We have put in place a disruptive behaviour unit. 
We have what we call an antisocial behaviour intervention team, ABIT —  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: How many people are involved in that?  

Mr Parry: Nineteen.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I noticed in the law society magazine that you were advertising for a number of 
lawyers. How many lawyers?  

Mr Parry: That was a separate process. Three lawyers, we brought on board. They are not 
connected to the disruptive behaviour management structure.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: What are they connected to? 

Mr Parry: They actually work for Paul, so I might get Paul to — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I am just trying to think of my future; that is all.  
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Mr Whyte: There were two aspects to that. One was the amount of money that we were spending 
on external legal fees and, secondly, retaining some knowledge in-house. We are moving in all sorts 
of different directions now with our commercial dealings, especially where we are dealing with 
joint ventures and public–private partnerships et cetera. We had thinned down to next to none in our 
legal team. My choice was to build it up and at least get some in-house capacity so that whatever 
the legal matter be, whether it be instructing for legislative change, whether it be for a commercial 
arrangement, or even perhaps if it had a legal aspect to our tenancy management, then we would 
have some in-house capacity.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Does it go broader into policy development or are you still briefing out in terms 
of some policy development stuff—external lawyers?  

Mr Whyte: In terms of policy, I — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I understand Minter Ellison is doing some work for the department.  

Mr Whyte: Minter Ellison does do work for the department. I was not sure it was in a policy area. 
We have a very strong policy unit and that is Tania’s area. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I was a bit surprised to hear it. I was told they were working through a number 
of alternatives or options or policy issues.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: I am not contracting them for anything and I look after the policy. 

Mr Whyte: I think that might be little “p” policy.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Gilding the lily a bit, is it?  

Mr Whyte: We certainly do not outsource our thinking within the business.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I am very pleased to hear that.  

Mr Whyte: Just if I could on the mental health issue, internally we try to use this AAA mantra: 
appropriate, available and affordable. In the mental health area, there has been over the past five to 
10 years a significant increase in deinstitutionalising people and bringing people back out into the 
community. For us, that has meant we are dealing with cases and people who have much more 
complex issues than perhaps we were dealing with in the past. Our housing response to that has had 
to change and it is changing as well. It is not necessarily right to put that person into a group 
dwelling around a whole lot of other people who maybe do not understand their issues and they do 
not understand how to live in a group setting. So it is inappropriate housing, I am getting at. The 
housing we need for them is not available, so we have got to make it available. One example, just 
quickly, of the sort of housing we are looking at—it does cover disabled people as well. We are 
looking at what we call dual key. We have a dwelling that might have, say, one bedroom or two 
bedrooms with self-contained living area and then a single-bedroom house detached from that with 
its own key and access and access into the other area to help out if they need to. They do not exist in 
the market and they do not exist in the zonings either, so we have had to work to provide product 
that is appropriate to those people. I think gradually as we get to a situation where it might be they 
have an issue, but they are only having an issue for a month and then they are back on track again, 
then the services can come and live-in with them and then maybe move out again or a family 
member can move in and then move out again. The client base was changing in the past five years 
because people were moving back into the community and our housing response is changing too.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Can I just put to you the quote from the minister in relation to this case that is 
in the paper today — 

Mr Buswell reiterated that tenants were obligated to be non-threatening and said the 
Government made a commitment to more effectively manage antisocial behaviour in public 
housing.  
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Is that a case of the policy should not necessarily apply, but it needs to be managed better so that it 
does not come to using the policy? Is that what he is saying or is he just saying it applies willy-
nilly?  

Mr Parry: I do not think any of us have actually read the article this morning.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: No, I just read it out to you, what he said — 

... tenants were obligated to be non-threatening ... 

Mr Parry: I think I talked about this morning — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Last paragraph.  

Mr Parry: I think to separate from what Paul was talking about is trying to provide more 
appropriate housing generally for people with mental health issues.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: You are saying it goes to management rather than a robust application of the 
antisocial behaviour policy? Is that what Paul was saying? 

Mr Whyte: The antisocial behaviour policy stands on its own and it is our policy and we will 
uphold that policy, but in terms of where the people go next—where do they go once you evict 
people?—in some cases it may be that that people’s behaviour can be modified by having people in 
a more appropriate housing type. As Steve said, in some cases it just does not work either way. 
With regard to this particular instance —  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Is it even appropriate to talk about the antisocial housing policy in the context 
of people with serious mental illness who, frankly, cannot remember to take a pill as opposed to 
read a government document. 

Mr Parry: Clearly our direction has been that we needed to get tougher around disruptive 
behaviour management. The strategy was originally launched in 2009 and following on from our 
application of that over a period of time, the minister has clearly told us or advised us in 
consultation that he would like us to be tougher and apply a firmer framework, which we have 
done.  

[11.00 am] 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: So that is a “yes”, is it? It does apply to people with mental illness. 

Mr Parry: Yes. It applies to all our tenants. It is a fair and equitable policy for all tenants. Again, it 
is about the balance of the community for us at this point in time. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Has the Equal Opportunity Commission looked at the substantive equality 
issues, given that issue? 

Mr Parry: Yes. We — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Applying the policy the same way for different people does not necessarily lead 
to equal outcomes. 

Mr Parry: Yes. 

Mr A.P. JACOB: It is the Equal Opportunity Commission, not the equal outcome commission. 

Mr I.M. BRITZA: This article is inflammatory, and the reason I think it is inflammatory is that it 
does not matter who is in government; it is a presumption of mine that the department would have 
gone through the necessary process before this person was told to do whatever he got told to do. 

Mr Parry: Absolutely. 

Mr I.M. BRITZA: And that has not been implied in the article. So, as far as I am concerned, the 
article is worth diddly-squat. I am being a bit harsh on that, because I sort of feel that the 
department is between a rock and a hard place in trying to bring in some stability and security in a 
very, very difficult area when it comes to the mentally ill and the gauging of how serious it is and 
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whatever. So, it is my presumption that this did not come up last night, and this definitely would 
have been looked over. It is important for us to know that whatever system you have got in place is 
in fact operating, so that when people do come to us and say they have been turfed out—for 
heaven’s sake, that is a dreadful headline, because it implies that no steps were taken; and if no 
steps were taken, I think I would be one of the first in line to say, “What the heck!” — 

The CHAIRMAN: But is it not still the government’s responsibility, not necessarily the 
Department of Housing’s? If we have a person with a mental illness, as a government, you have a 
responsibility to provide the service. That is a health service—right? 

Mr A.P. JACOB: But they have done that. He is in Graylands Hospital. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: It is not long term, is it? 

The CHAIRMAN: Ultimately, he could be in Graylands Hospital for a week; he could be there for 
a month. When he comes out, he still has no place to live, so the result is that he winds up back on 
the street, and he winds up doing all the inappropriate things, and he winds up back in Graylands 
again or he winds up in jail, which many people with mental health problems do. So, where does 
that responsibility lie? It is all right for the Department of Housing or the minister or any of us to 
say, “Hang on; we’ve done everything we can”, but it is still the responsibility of government to 
actually provide that health care, to provide that housing—because he is obviously on social 
housing; he is on that safety barrier, that safety net—and he needs to be picked up, or else we just 
let him hit the streets, in which case we have another social issue altogether that we have to then 
police. Then we put him in prison again, and that costs us a whole lot more than doing something 
else in the first place. 

Mr Whyte: I guess I can only reiterate what I said before. We are not just sitting on our hands and 
saying that it is a revolving situation. We have to deal with it firsthand from housing, and, for us, 
we will look back and say, “Okay. Was the housing appropriate? Was there anything we could have 
done better with the housing of that person?” That is our response as the housing agency. Secondly, 
we will look at the wraparound services and whether there is anything else we could have done 
external to the housing to work with other government agencies to improve the situation for that 
person, because what you just described is not isolated to mental health. With us keeping our eye on 
that AAA, we ask: Was it appropriate? Was the housing response appropriate? Did we have 
available the housing? And the final part about affordable in this instance is probably more about 
the available and appropriate parts and what other wraparound services can we provide. 

Mr A.P. JACOB: Can I, on that wraparound point, bring it back to the affordability strategy. That 
is really my question on it, and this document largely seems to deal with, I guess, in what is your 
immediate responsibility area, but so many of the issues flow over beyond that. We are talking 
about mental health now, and then you have to start going into those areas and broadly beyond that. 
Even on affordability, the most important thing you are doing is, I guess, within your immediate 
area of influence, and I think it is quite good stuff, but the root causes of affordability are not being 
addressed. That is not a criticism of the department, because, from what we have been hearing, a lot 
of the root causes of affordability come back to land supply, which is beyond your immediate 
ability to influence. But, then, that comes from the wraparound-type services—so, planning and 
approvals, in particular, seem to be a part of what is driving up housing affordability. What are you 
able to do and what are you trying to do, as the Department of Housing, to address broader 
affordability? 

Mr Whyte: Going to the affordability part, in fact, land supply at the moment — 

Ms Loosley-Smith: It is a 10-year strategy, but we are very clear, having been through cabinet—
and so is the minister—that it is the state affordable housing strategy, so there are roles for 
planning, for local government and for a whole bunch of other agencies to play. I guess this was 
about getting a stake in the ground and saying really clearly that affordable housing and housing 



Community Development and Justice Wednesday, 29 June 2011 Page 16 

 

affordability is an important policy issue for this government, and that it intends to tackle it in a 
systemic way. So, yes, we have laid out the kind of things that we can control, and specifically 
wanting to talk to your terms of reference today. But there is quite a lot in there that is about the 
more ambitious agenda about getting some of the system-changing stuff in around planning and 
approvals and local government in particular. And we have got work to do with the feds, because 
some of what gets in the way are areas of federal government responsibility. Year one for us is 
about delivering on some of the stuff that we need to. As the strategy rolls out, we will see—the 
minister has made that fairly clear through the strategy—the role of the department starting to be 
more and more about that policy leadership across government. Paul and I have been at the 
department less than three years, and it was curious coming into a Department of Housing and 
looking around government and saying, “Where’s the policy leadership for affordable housing in 
government?” It was not there. So, we are slowly building that capability across government. 

Mr A.P. JACOB: Are you gearing up to do an R Code submission for the review? A lot of what 
you have talked about, you have said is not in the code, for example, that two-key system. A lot of 
the group-dwelling and multiple-dwelling definitions, even some density bonuses around 
affordability, would go a long way. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Absolutely. 

Mr Whyte: It is fair to say that we will be challenging every aspect that will effect affordable, 
available and appropriate housing. You mentioned before the issue about land supply, and, as Tania 
was saying, I have been in the agency for just under two years, this was really a hot topic. There 
was not enough land available. Get land onto the market quickly, and that was correct at that time. 
Now, I do not believe it is so much an issue of land supply. There seems to be plenty of land 
available. There could be more, and private developers will give you their spin on that, because no 
doubt they have land in the process that is being held up. But, overall, right now, the amount of 
available vacant land is not in great shortage. The issue is the cost of getting it to market. 

Mr A.P. JACOB: Yes. That is why I was — 

Mr Whyte: We are trying everything from these small lots to whatever we can do to pare back on 
the costs, but it costs you about $100 000 a lot to get lots to market, just in compliance costs. To 
level a site and get it ready, and buy it and pay back the amount of money it cost you to acquire the 
site, it is probably around $60 000, but it is $100 000 in compliance costs. I am not saying that all 
those compliance measures are not appropriate. It is again back to that point: the cheapest you can 
bring land to market is still not affordable. That is the disconnect. I think in every generation in the 
past, people have set the price at what people could afford, and the difference was their profit. It is 
the opposite now.  

[11.10 am] 

If you brought land to the market at what people could afford, you would be making a loss on every 
lot; hence, we are looking at things like shared equity to make up the difference et cetera. It is a 
different circumstance. I hope that has addressed that question.  

The other question about what we are going to do about systemic change and other issues—we will 
have a go at every part of it and we have to. Our role within land development compels us to as 
well, because we want to. To continue on down the path that we are, if it gets to $120 000, 
$150 000 a lot in compliance costs, it is just going to completely outstrip people’s means and their 
capacity, this generation and my kids’ generation’s ability to afford to have an average job and buy 
an average house, or even any house. 

Mr A.P. JACOB: Just very quickly, this is a yes or no question: are you going to be engaging in 
robust discussion with the Department of Planning over the R-code review as a department? 

Mr Whyte: Yes. 
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Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes. 

Mr A.P. JACOB: Great. 

The CHAIRMAN: We will send that piece of Hansard! 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: One of the things that has certainly come up a lot in this inquiry is the issue 
about affordable housing quotas within developments. I just want to know, as part of the affordable 
housing strategy, is there going to be any legislative response to that, or what is the plan? 

Mr Whyte: At the moment, the strategy is isolated to government land and — 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Or land we develop with a private partner. 

Mr Whyte: Or land that we develop with a private partner, and that is the extent of it at the 
moment. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: That is a commitment. We need to work through how that is going to work 
with Treasury and others. At this stage I would be thinking that you build it into the contracts. 

Ms M. M. QUIRK: Yes, but more generally in the market, there is no proposal — 

Ms Loosley-Smith: There is no appetite right now for that kind of legislative inclusion rezoning 
across the board, no. 

Mr Whyte: Most private developers are “what can we get for it”, so if they can get a bonus from 
the local government or from some planning outcome, they are certainly willing to play. There are 
certain redevelopment areas and such where you do get a bonus, and I think private sector relies on 
that incentive. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Paul, you gave us some rather horrendous evidence about the trials and 
tribulations of developing a school site. That is certainly a very problematical area, and both the 
member for Joondalup and I have got such sites in our electorates, I think. I gather these things are 
decided by a committee. Is it called the PACH committee? 

The CHAIRMAN: It is known as PACH. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Is housing and works on that committee? 

Mr Whyte: Yes, what land actually becomes available is really up to the host agency itself, so they 
will look at their own asset portfolio. Some agencies have the right to trade in land themselves 
through their own legislation; other agencies do not, but there is an incentive for them to look at 
their landholdings and then return that land through the Minister for Lands to government. When it 
is released on PACH, then government agencies have the opportunity to bid for that land. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Is it your experience that maybe the Department of Education is not as—how 
can we put this—expeditious in their handling of these sites? Is that one of the issues? 

Mr Whyte: Again, given my experience, I cannot make comment on that. Certainly, we do get — 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: What is your take on why these school sites are taking so long to develop? 

Mr Whyte: It is certainly not the Department of Education’s issue. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: It is a local government issue — 

Mr Whyte: No, it is the time it takes you to go and get that, and bring that land to market. We have 
not had any issue from the Department of Education at all in of slowing down the process. Once 
they decide that it is no longer required for a school or a future school or it was a school and they do 
not need it for a school anymore, the process goes as fast as the system will let it. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: We have also heard evidence that local government would want to get more 
involved in the provision of affordable housing but there are some constraints because of the Local 
Government Act and commercial enterprises for local government. Do you know whether—if any 
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of you can answer this—there is any proposal at a government level to change the Local 
Government Act so that local government can become more active in housing development? 

Mr Whyte: We are not aware of that, but local government is a very significant player in the 
provision of housing, certainly for seniors’ housing, and it varies from local government to local 
government. They are certainly significant players because they are significant landholders. As far 
as affordable housing is concerned and being able to run a commercial arm, I am not aware of any 
challenge or any change they are looking to make.  

The CHAIRMAN: Can I throw a couple of points at you? One point that we have heard is that it 
depends on which local government it is. Some are very quick in their approvals and can do it in 
two and a half weeks. I think the worst that we were quoted was up to 16 or 18 months, if not more. 
The notion was put to us that if something complies with the R codes, all local governments should 
be obliged, or have a capacity, to issue a building licence and they should not be putting a planning 
process in place on individual dwellings. Can I ask you what your opinion on that would be? 

Mr Whyte: We certainly experience the varying degrees of time that it takes from one local 
government to another. The demands on some local governments in this area are especially in high-
growth areas. They are the ones that — 

The CHAIRMAN: They are probably the ones that are pretty quick at getting the applications 
through. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: We would support some change in that area. If something is compliant, single-
residential compliant, we would support anything that brings down the time and rationalises the 
process and means that people do not have to jump through multiple hoops. So in principle —  

Mr Whyte: In principle, absolutely. We do have, I guess, a get-out clause there in that we can 
invoke the Public Works Act to develop land — 

The CHAIRMAN: From your point of view? 

Mr Whyte: In our point of view. We do not use that as the first means, because we certainly want 
to obtain clean title on our land and make sure that it is compliant with the R codes in case we want 
to sell down or we want to transfer the assets to a community housing provider. But I guess that is 
our only out clause. But to support Tania’s comment, absolutely. 

The CHAIRMAN: Another notion that has been put to us—I hope I get it right—is that some of 
our affordability crisis started to happen because the Department of Housing started entering into 
these joint ventures. It is probably not something that you want to hear; it is evidence that has been 
given to us, and I hope I am quoting it right. Those joint ventures put you in the marketplace as a 
developer and as a developer that has to make a profit because the private partner has to make a 
profit, whereas previously you would have developed and you did not have to make any profit so 
therefore you were putting land on the market at an affordable price and the developers were over 
here and they were putting land on the market at a market price, and there was a balance. The 
notion has been put to us that that balance has been disrupted because now the Department of 
Housing joint-ventures with a lot of developers and therefore there has to be a profit margin. Can 
you give us a comment on that?  

Mr Whyte: Every joint venture agreement and every joint venture arrangement we have is 
different. In all cases we have assessed it as being of net benefit to the state in terms of the housing 
outcomes that we achieve. In a number of instances, we joint-venture with the adjoining owner. 
Now in a lot of cases that significantly reduces infrastructure costs, which reduces the cost of the 
land and brings the land market a lot faster. In other cases, as we have in Golden Bay, we are 
virtually just outsourcing expertise. We are partnered with Peet and Co on that particular 
development and they are effectively just a contracted agency to us. It varies from being in a true 
partnership, if you like, to having an outsource arrangement. Each of the joint ventures operate with 
a joint venture board and with the joint venture agreements there are very stipulated requirements 
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for the delivery of affordable housing. I can again only talk personally, but I am on a joint venture 
board. The design, or the master plan, of the joint venture is structured in a way that delivers 
affordable housing, which is completely different from maximising profit on a development. The 
department as well has the right to acquire any lots within that, so the department cherry-picks the 
sites that will suit the public housing outcome. Purely by fact, our joint ventures represent 40 per 
cent of the bottom quarter, so that part of the market may not exist if we were not involved in that 
way. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: And 82 per cent of the lots developed are below median; they are clearly 
pitching — 

[11.20 am] 

The CHAIRMAN: The only reason I put the question was because that was said to us, and I 
wanted to give you an opportunity — 

Ms Loosley-Smith: I think I know that argument, and the one that has been put to me, which may 
or may not be from the same people, was that it was kind of the 1980s period when government 
started to get out of being the direct developer of land and started doing it more through the private 
sector, whether that be through JVs or whatever, and that that coincided with private sector 
behaving as the private sector does and sometimes holding onto land until it is worth more to put to 
market et cetera. 

The CHAIRMAN: So, you are not unfamiliar with that notion? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: I am not unfamiliar with it. It is hard to say that the department, through its JV 
activities, would have a huge bearing, because while we are good, we are not that good; we are 
about 16 per cent the market, are we not, of the lots out there? 

Mr Whyte: Yes, one in every six lots. There is very much a utility performance measure rather than 
a profit performance measure on our land developments. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: This is the kind of stuff that differentiates us from some of the other agencies 
in government that are developing land. We develop it for a range of purposes: one to get an 
affordable land stab into the market, and two to support our own programs. Any of the money that 
is made out of that, as you know, is re-invested straight back into the social housing program, so our 
imperatives are kind of different. But, yes, there have been changes in government policy and 
practice over the years that have brought more private players into being large landholders and 
operating with different outcomes. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: It was suggested to me by someone who I will not name, but who understands 
these issues, that the reality of the situation is that there has been no additional money put into 
public housing for about the last five years, and, in fact, most of the schemes that you are talking 
about here are either a partnership—you are trading on the land that you have already held—or 
effectively you are leveraging more money off the commonwealth or more subsidies or shifting 
stuff across through the national homelessness policy or whatever. At the end of the day, is state 
government not putting enough money into public housing, and should the amount put into public 
housing be increased? 

Mr Whyte: Your first premise is that the land development function is supporting public housing. 
The net profit that we make from the land development function is predominantly ploughed back 
into acquiring land. So, from that perspective, it is not our cash cow; it is a resource that we believe 
we need access to, and control of land, to bring to market. Our forefathers acquired significant tracts 
of land, and the land that we develop is not land that we acquire, that we pick up from government 
or LandCorp or anyone like that.  

Ms M.M. QUIRK: It is not by way of criticism; I am just talking about dipping into consolidated 
revenue and saying to housing and works, “Here, have some money.” 
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Mr Whyte: Predominantly, the housing authority has been fundamentally mostly self-funded, with 
the rental income we generate from our housing and all other activities. Commonwealth funds 
represent about 25 per cent usually, and state funds continue to be at about 20 to 25 per cent level as 
well. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: All right; that is fine. So, really it has been static for some time—that is really 
what I am getting at. In terms of injecting money into the affordable housing strategy, is there no 
additional money injected for that. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: There was $150 million through the last budget process specifically targeted to 
those high-needs groups. I do not have the exact numbers, but the state certainly brought forward 
some money to support the stimulus. It has put some additional money into homelessness to match 
commonwealth effort. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: That was the condition of getting the commonwealth money. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes, but it also provided $150 million for an extra 284 social houses, public 
houses, whatever you want to call them, for the mental health disability through the last budget. So 
there has been a real increase. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is the 169 houses, is it? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: It is 284 over three years. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Was that out of housing and works or was that out of the disability budget? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: It came through Minister Morton’s portfolio office and then flowed straight 
into our budget. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: I am trying to get you guys more money, so just flirt with me! From the normal 
budgetary sources, you guys have done more with less; is that what you are telling us? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Yes, we are working smarter with what we have got. Would we welcome 
additional funding injections from the state government? Absolutely. Will it solve the problem? No. 
But will it help? Yes. 

Mr Whyte: Looking inside of the asset base that we have got, we can do more with the assets that 
we have got. First things first; if you have a got problem, look inside. That is what we are about at 
the moment. 

Ms M.M. QUIRK: Yes, it is not a criticism by any means. 

The CHAIRMAN: Paul, I think it was you who mentioned that local government has a big role to 
play. Can I ask you where you see the role local government plays? I know that the City of 
Joondalup have no housing stock. As far as I can see, they have no affordable housing strategy. 
They have a high-density strategy and they might consider that as their affordable housing strategy. 
What is the role local government can take? I think that at the moment they take a pretty minimal 
role. 

Mr Whyte: Having the state affordable housing strategy now gives us all something to point to. So, 
within the state government as well — 

The CHAIRMAN: We have the world’s worst tea maker here! 

Mr Whyte: It also now enables local government, commonwealth government and the private 
sector to align itself to that strategy. Talking about the strategy itself, Tania is best served to answer 
that question. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Each level of government will make its own decisions, but we certainly want to 
open up opportunities for them to support some demonstration trials and to support some 
innovations through that planning and approvals process. We are not suggesting by any means that 
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every local government should be managing housing, but they could certainly partner with some of 
the community housing providers to deliver housing, for example. 

The CHAIRMAN: I think that one of the things Paul said is that they have got large amounts of 
land that they own, and that is true. In fact, the City of Joondalup at the moment is in the process of 
rezoning some of what were called community-purpose sites. My understanding of these 
community-purpose sites was that they were a piece of land that was given to local government to 
provide, in the future, a community facility of some sort. There was no charge on that land. Am I 
wrong in that assumption? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: I do not know; I am nodding furiously because I am interested. 

Mr Whyte: There is quite a lot of land that is vested initially in local government from crown land, 
and then they go about acquiring that land.  

The CHAIRMAN: This is separate from that; this is a piece of land that is given to them or that 
they acquire, whether it is free or for a small amount, and now 20 or 30 years down the track, they 
have decided to sell off 15 to 17 of those lots, which is a significant amount of land. But once they 
sell it off, they have no control, as such, over what is built there. If they sell it to a community 
housing organisation, yes, they might put the type of housing on that the council wants, but if it 
happens to be me or a private developer, I can build my four-by-twos and whatever else like that I 
wanted to. So, you are really losing control of it. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: We are really keen to partner with local governments to look at what we could 
do in the long term. We have some modest things happening—for example, the City of Perth—and 
we have got a historic program that I am interested in having a look at which was a joint venture 
program with local governments. It was that kind of thing probably on a smaller scale, Tony, where 
they have land and we stumped up for the capital and we have lots of seniors units in the country 
and those sorts of things under those kind of arrangements.  

The CHAIRMAN: That is what they are saying they want to build there, but my thought is that 
once they have sold it to a developer, they can build what they want. 

[11.30 am] 

Mr Whyte: Once they have, we would encourage them to consider things such as restrictive 
covenants on the land. That may well enable them to achieve the outcomes into perpetuity. A 
restrictive covenant might be that the land is used for a particular purpose. Maybe our role is not to 
reconnect with local government but to get better connected with local government and work with 
them. 

One area in particular that we would applaud Fremantle council on is that, for instance, it is now 
looking at people having an automatic right to build a granny flat on the back of a house if it 
complies with certain conditions. It is going to take a little while for it to get the amendments 
through its planning scheme, but that is a really positive outcome, and that will help us significantly 
with the ageing population. It will assist us significantly with people who require care, and it will 
stop the pressure coming back onto the public system. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: Paul, if I can interrupt, the exciting bit about that is that it is not granny flats as 
such; it is ancillary dwellings that could just be rented out to students. It does not have to be a 
family member. That is the new ground they are breaking. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is a big issue in Joondalup as well, because we have lots of the Fonzie 
apartments in Joondalup, but the local law at the time said that the person living in that facility had 
to have a family relationship at the front, which is a problem, because most of them do not. 

Ms Loosley-Smith: That is the ground that Fremantle has just broken. 
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Mr Whyte: Directions 2031 is another case of the strategy being put out. The response is just 
taking a little while to happen. If we are going to get 47 per cent of the population increase in 
dwellings through infill, there has to be a significant change within each local government to allow 
for that to happen. Fremantle’s response should help achieve that quite simply. For other local 
governments, it depends on the layout—the land that they have, the amount of land that they have, 
their constituency et cetera. I think we will find there will be some significant R-code updates in the 
next few years, but it will probably take two to three to five years to happen. The closer we get to 
2031, the pressure is on us now with 1 200 people flooding into Perth every week. We cannot just 
simply press the button on granny flats. It will take two or three years for ancillary dwellings. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is there anything else that you want to throw at us before we allow you to go? 

Ms Loosley-Smith: No, I am good. 

Mr Whyte: Only just to reiterate that certainly from my perspective, the state affordable housing 
strategy does give us something to point towards. It has shifted the thinking within the agency from 
being public housing provider. All that we do from the very beginnings, from a land sense, goes 
right through until property development. Having a part to play all the way through is really 
important—having the end-to-end supply. 

In the circumstances we can help control our own destiny in that regard. The proof will be in the 
pudding in the next three to five years as to whether there is a change in those graphs. I think it is 
true that we do not control all the factors that lead to things like the waiting list, but now we 
certainly have the opportunity through the strategy to act out a whole series of initiatives that, I 
guess, have changed the focus and also perhaps the breadth of activities within the organisation.  

Ms Loosley-Smith: It is about us playing a leadership role and a catalyst role rather kind of sitting 
back and doing the doing. 

The CHAIRMAN: You have reminded me of one question that I meant to ask you. You should 
have gone when you had the chance! Even when you talk out there in the community about 
affordable housing, everybody immediately goes “Homeswest”. Has there been a process, or is 
there a way of distinguishing social housing from affordable housing to market housing? In your 
opinion, have people actually got that difference, because my view is that they have not. Somebody 
in a vest is going to mad when I say this: at the Craigie school site, some of the comments from the 
local community were, “We don’t want Homeswest housing.” When we talk to them about what is 
affordable, it is Homeswest. They still have not got that in their mind. I am saying to them, “Hang 
on a minute. Affordable means that your son or your daughter or yourself, because you are now 
about to retire, can buy a house in here or rent a house in here at a price that is not going to send 
you broke.” 

Mr Parry: One of our problems is, whenever we have any negative news, it is always about 
Homeswest. If we are ever talking about anything positive, it is about the Department of Housing. 
We have really noticed the difference in there. You will find it mostly in the press as well. It will be 
Homeswest if there is a drug lab blowing up somewhere; and it will be the Department of Housing 
if we are building anything. We are looking at rebranding the department. We want to embed the 
affordable housing strategy and try to build on our reputation, particularly in delivering the different 
products and playing in a different space than we have historically done. We have historically been 
known as Homeswest. In fact, we have not technically been called Homeswest since 1999. It is a 
long, long time, and it still gets thrown out there, even by our minister. However, once we believe 
we have got to a certain stage, we want to build the department and build our reputation. The work 
on rebranding ourselves and pushing ourselves forward within the twenty-first century is actually 
starting. At what point do we push a button to really clearly define the difference of what we are 
and where we have got to? 
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The CHAIRMAN: Are you exhausted? I will read you the last bit. Thanks very much for coming 
in this morning, and thanks for your explanation of and guiding us through the affordable housing 
strategy. Thanks for your evidence before the committee this morning. A transcript of the hearing 
will be forwarded to you for correction of minor errors. Please make these corrections and return a 
transcript within 10 working days of the date of the covering letter. If the transcript is not returned 
within this period, we will deem it to be correct. New material cannot be introduced by these 
corrections and the sense of your evidence cannot be altered. Should you wish to provide additional 
information or elaborate on particular points, please include a supplementary submission for the 
committee’s consideration when you return your corrected transcript of evidence. Do not forget that 
information on moving people out of social housing—the ones that are above. That would be great 
to see. Thanks very much.  

Hearing concluded at 11.37 am  

__________ 
 


